2001

Lucille Bearden, Dorothy Lucille Christensen
Bearden as Trustee of the Lucille Bearden Family
Trust, and Harold Dee Bearden v. Guy Gritton,
Wardley Corporation dba Wardley Better Homes
& Gardens : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated sections 78-2a-3(2)(j) and 78-2-2(4) (1996).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This appeal presents the following issues for review.

Issue #1: Whether the trial court should have granted Wardley's Motion for Summary Judgment based on the undisputed facts which demonstrated, as a matter of law, that Gritton's conduct was outside the course and scope of his independent contractor relationship with Wardley and Wardley could not, therefore, be vicariously liable for Bearden's losses resulting from that conduct.

Standard of Review: In reviewing a denial of summary judgment, the reviewing court is to "consider only whether the trial court correctly applied the law and correctly concluded that no disputed issues of material fact existed." *Surety Underwriters v. E & C Trucking*, 2000 UT 71, ¶ 14, 10 P.3d 338 (quoting *Aurora Credit Servs. v. Liberty W. Dev. Inc.*, 970 P.2d 1273, 1277 (Utah 1998)). No deference is accorded the trial court's conclusions of law. *Malibu Inv. Co. v. Sparks*, 2000 UT 30, ¶ 12, 996 P.2d 1043. When reviewing an order denying a motion for summary judgment, appellate courts are to review "the facts and reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the . . . the nonmoving party." *Surety Underwriters*, 2000 UT 71, ¶ 15, 10 P.3d 338.

This issue was preserved for appeal at R. 213.

Issue #2: Whether the trial court should have granted Wardley's Motion for Directed Verdict based on the testimony which demonstrated, as a matter of law, that

Gritton's conduct was outside the course and scope of his independent contractor relationship with Wardley and Wardley could not, therefore, be vicariously liable for Bearden's losses resulting from that conduct.

Standard of Review: In reviewing a denial of a motion for directed verdict, there is one standard of review: An appellate court will “reverse only if, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, we conclude that the evidence is insufficient to support the verdict.” *Brewer v. Denver & Rio Grande W. R.R.*, 2001 UT 77, ¶ 33, 31 P.3d 557 (quoting *Heslop v. Bank of Utah*, 839 P.2d 828, 839 (Utah 1992)); see also *Mahmood v. Ross*, 1999 UT 104, ¶ 16, 990 P.2d 933 (“When reviewing any challenge to a trial court’s denial of a motion for directed verdict, we review “the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may fairly be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party moved against, and will sustain the denial if reasonable minds could disagree with the ground asserted for directing a verdict.” (quoting *White v. Fox*, 665 P.2d 1297, 1300 (Utah 1983))); *Scudder v. Kennecott Copper Corp.*, 886 P.2d 48, 52 (Utah 1994); *DeBry v. Cascade Enters.*, 879 P.2d 1353, 1359 (Utah 1994) (“A directed verdict and a judgment n.o.v. are justified only if, after looking at the evidence and all reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, ‘the trial court concludes that there is no competent evidence which would support a verdict in his favor.’” (quoting *Gustaveson v. Gregg*, 655 P.2d 693, 695 (Utah 1982))).

This issue was preserved for appeal at R. 708 at 171-75.

Issue #3: Whether the jury was properly instructed regarding the relationship between Gritton and Wardley; the standard governing Wardley’s vicarious liability for

Gritton's acts; and the appropriate evidentiary standard governing Bearden's claims for fraud.

Standard of Review: An appeal challenging the jury instructions presents a question of law with respect to which the trial court is given no deference. *Ong v. 11th Avenue Corp.*, 850 P.2d 447, 452 (Utah 1993) (citing *State v. Hamilton*, 827 P.2d 232, 238 (Utah 1992); *Ramon v. Farr*, 770 P.2d 131, 133 (Utah 1989)). Similarly, "Whether [a] trial court's refusal to give a proposed jury instruction constitutes error is a question of law" which is reviewed for correctness. *Brewer v. Denver & Rio Grande W. R.R.*, 2001 UT 77, ¶ 38, 31 P.3d 557. Nonetheless, appellate courts will affirm the use of the jury instructions when they "taken as a whole, fairly tender the case to the jury even where one or more of the instructions, standing alone, are not as full or accurate as they might have been." *State v. Robertson*, 932 P.2d 1219, 1231 (Utah 1997).

This issue was preserved for appeal at R. 708 at 229. The trial court did not permit counsel an opportunity to completely state his objections to the jury instructions on the record, contrary to Rule 51(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure ("Objections to written instructions shall be made before the instructions are given to the jury The court shall provide an opportunity to make objections outside the hearing of the jury."). The trial court's refusal to permit Wardley's counsel to fully set forth the bases for his objections should not preclude consideration of this issue. *See Nielsen v. Pioneer Valley Hospital*, 830 P.2d 270, 272 (Utah 1992) ("The judge did not afford counsel any opportunity to enter objections on the record before the jury retired. This court should not enjoin [the] appeal because of this irregularity by the trial court.").

Issue # 4: Whether the Special Verdict was confusing and improperly tied the jury's findings of Gritton's fault to Wardley and whether the Special Verdict allowed the jury to find there was fraud by a preponderance of the evidence.

Standard of Review: Whether a trial court has correctly refused to give a special verdict form is a question of law. *Collins v. Wilson*, 1999 UT 56, ¶ 22, 984 P.2d 960 (citing *State v. Carter*, 888 P.2d 629, 655 (Utah 1995)). Nonetheless, "a court has considerable discretion in accepting proposed special verdict forms." *Id.* (citing *Canyon Country Store v. Bracey*, 781 P.2d 414, 420 (Utah 1989)).

This issue was preserved for appeal at R. 708 at 229.

Issue #5: Whether the trial court erred in failing to follow Rule 47(n) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure when the jury had a question regarding the meaning of the Special Verdict.

Standard of Review: The determination of the propriety of a trial court's communication with a jury during deliberations is reviewed under a correction-of-error standard. The trial court will be reversed only if the error is "substantial or prejudicial . . . such that the result would have been different had it not taken place." *Board of Commissioners of the State Bar v. Peterson*, 937 P.2d 1263, 1270 (Utah 1997)(quoting *Tjas v. Proctor*, 591 P.2d 438, 441 (Utah 1979)).

This issue was not preserved for appeal but should be considered preserved because trial counsel was unaware that the jury had submitted a question to the judge until being informed of that fact by Wardley's current counsel, who did not discover the issue until the record on appeal was received from the trial court. It was impossible for

trial counsel to preserve the issue for appeal when he had no knowledge of the issue's existence.

Issue #6: Whether the evidence supports the judgment for compensatory and punitive damages awarded against Wardley, in the amount of approximately \$135,000.00.

Standard of Review: Juries are generally allowed wide discretion in their assessment of damages. *See Cornia v. Wilcox*, 898 P.2d 1379, 1386 (Utah 1995) (citing *Bennion v. LeGrand Johnson Constr. Co.*, 701 P.2d 1078, 1084 (Utah 1985)). A reviewing court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the jury's findings and will uphold its calculation of damages so long as there is competent evidence to sustain it. *Id.*

This issue was preserved for appeal at R. 653.

Issue #7: Whether the trial court appropriately awarded attorney fees of \$46,970.19.

Standard of Review: Whether attorney fees are recoverable in an action is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. *Valcarce v. Fitzgerald*, 961 P.2d 305 (Utah 1998) (citing *Robertson v. Gem Ins. Co.*, 828 P.2d 496, 499 (Utah Ct. App. 1992)). Similarly, "whether the trial court's findings of fact in support of an award of fees are sufficient is a question of law, reviewed for correctness." *Id.* (citing *State v. Pharris*, 846 P.2d 454, 459 (Utah Ct. App. 1991)). Once it has been determined that a party is legally entitled to a fee award, the trial court has broad discretion in determining what constitutes

a reasonable attorney fee. *Id.* (citing *Dixie State Bank v. Bracken*, 764 P.2d 985, 988 (Utah 1988)).

This issue was preserved for appeal at R. 558.

STATUTES AND RULES WHICH ARE DETERMINATIVE OR OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THIS APPEAL

Utah Code Ann. §§ 61-2-1, *et seq.*

See Addendum.

Rule 47(n) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure – Jurors.

Additional instructions of jury. After the jury have retired for deliberation, if there is a disagreement among them as to any part of the testimony, or if they desire to be informed on any point of law arising in the cause, they may require the officer to conduct them into court. Upon their being brought into court the information required must be given in the presence of, or after notice to, the parties or counsel. Such information must be given in writing or stated on the record.

Rule 51(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure – Instructions to Jury; Objections

(d) *Objections to instructions.* Objections to written instructions shall be made before the instructions are given to the jury. Objections to oral instructions may be made after they are given to the jury, but before the jury retires to consider its verdict. The court shall provide an opportunity to make objections outside the hearing of the jury. Unless a party objects to an instruction or the failure to give an instruction, the instruction may not be assigned as error except to avoid a manifest injustice. In objecting to the giving of an instruction, a party shall identify the matter to which the objection is made and the grounds for the objection.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case arose out of the sale of rental property owned by Lucille Bearden (“Bearden”¹) to Gritton, whom Bearden had hired as a real estate agent initially to help her sell the rental property. Bearden and Gritton agreed he would buy the property on a contract. Gritton, however, surreptitiously had Bearden sign a Warranty Deed; had the Warranty Deed improperly notarized and recorded, thereby transferring the title to himself. In addition to defaulting on the purchase contract, Gritton took out several loans secured by the property, failing to pay two of them. Bearden, Mr. Bearden and the Family Trust sued Gritton, his employer, Wardley Corporation, the notary, the title company for whom the notary worked and the surety on the notary’s bond.

Course of Proceedings

The initial Complaint in this case was filed on November 30, 1998 against Defendants Wardley Corporation and Guy Gritton. (R. 1.) On May 20, 1999, an Order was entered granting Plaintiffs permission to file their Amended Complaint to add as Defendants Charlene Burns-Nielson, Backman Stewart Title Services Ltd., and Old Republic Surety Group. (R. 102.) On January 11, 2000, Wardley filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 213.) No hearing was held, and by minute entry dated April 6, 2000, the trial court denied Wardley’s motion, “for the reasons specified in the opposing memorandum.” (R. 305.) An Order to this effect was entered on July 12, 2000.

¹ Unless a distinction is necessary, all of the plaintiffs are referred to collectively as “Bearden.”

(R. 307.) On August 2, 2000, Wardley filed a petition for interlocutory review of the denial of its Motion for Summary Judgment, (R. 311), which was denied by the Utah Supreme Court by its Order dated September 20, 2000. (R. 331.)

By Order dated May 18, 2001, Burns-Neilson, Backman Stewart, and Old Republic were dismissed from the suit after settling with Plaintiffs. (R. 353.)

A two-day trial was held on September 4-5, 2001. At the close of plaintiffs' case in chief, Wardley brought a Motion for Directed Verdict. (R. 708 at 171-74.) That motion was denied. (*Id.* at 174.) After deliberations, the jury brought back a verdict against Wardley and Gritton, (R. 471, 475), and on November 13, 2001, the trial court entered a judgment against Wardley and Gritton in the amount of \$75,000, punitive damages against Gritton in the amount of \$25,000, and against Wardley in the amount of \$15,000. (R. 644.) Plaintiffs' filed a Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs and Prejudgment Interest after the verdict was returned (R. 479-81). Pursuant to this Motion, the trial court further awarded \$1,107.00 in costs, \$46,970.19 in attorneys' fees, and \$7,203.00 in prejudgment interest. (R. 644)

Statement of Facts

At all times relevant to this case, Gritton was a real estate agent affiliated with Wardley through a written independent contractor agreement. (Tr. Ex. 2, 3) In approximately June of 1997, Bearden engaged Gritton and Wardley to help her sell a home located at 550 Adams Avenue, Midvale, Utah, which she had been renting out (the "Property"). (R. 707 at 12.) The parties entered into a Listing Contract and Agency Disclosure so Gritton could help Lucille sell the Property. (*Id.* at 15-16; Tr. Ex. 4.)

Shortly after the Property was placed on the market, Gritton told Lucille that his wife had asked him to move out and advised Lucille he personally might be interested in purchasing the Property for \$89,000.00. (R. 707 at 19-21, 114-15. Gritton told Bearden he planned to make improvements to the Property and resell it at a higher price. (*Id.* at 19, 114-15.) Bearden agreed to sell Gritton the Property. (*Id.*)

On July 11, 1997, Gritton came to Bearden's home to have her sign papers relating to the sale of the Property to him. (*Id.* at 24, 26-27.) Bearden and Gritton executed a Real Estate Purchase Contract (the "REPC"), which stated Gritton would purchase the Property for \$89,000. (*Id.*; Tr. Ex. 7.) Under the REPC, Bearden agreed to accept \$400.00 per month from Gritton as "interest only" payments while Gritton was living in the Property and fixing it up. (R. 707 at 20, 114-15.) Gritton was to make a balloon payment of \$89,000 at the end of five years. (*Id.* at 20; 115.) The REPC required Gritton to provide a \$500 earnest money deposit on or before October 15, 1997. Addendum No. 1 to the REPC indicates Gritton was purchasing the Property to fix it up and sell it at a profit. (Tr. Ex. 7.)

At the meeting on July 11, 1997, Gritton handed Bearden papers to be signed or initialed as Gritton instructed. (R. 707 at 26.) Bearden relied on Gritton's representations as to the contents of the documents relating to Gritton's purchase of the Property, and then signed them without reading them. (*Id.*) In addition to the REPC and among the documents Bearden apparently signed during that meeting (or at a meeting five days later) was a Warranty Deed purporting to transfer title to the Property from Bearden to Gritton. (Tr. Ex. 9.) Gritton did not disclose that he was having Bearden sign

a Warranty Deed and Bearden did not realize that she was signing a Warranty Deed to the Property. (R. 707 at 27.)

The Warranty Deed was later notarized by Charlene Burns-Nielson, who did not witness Bearden's signature. (R. 708 at 179.) The Warranty Deed with its improper notarization was recorded by Gritton several months later. (R. 707 at 137, 143.) Gritton did not tell Bearden he had recorded the Warranty Deed (*id.* at 149) and, in fact, their agreement did not call for title to transfer until after Gritton had fully paid for the Property. (*Id.* at 27-28.)

Gritton moved into the Property and sporadically made the monthly payments required by the REPC. (R. 707 at 32-33.) In total, Gritton paid Bearden \$3,200, and did not make any payments after May of 1998, although he remained in the house until November 3, 1998. (*Id.*) Eventually, Bearden contacted an attorney to look into getting copies of the papers she had signed with Gritton and getting Gritton to make the promised payments. (*Id.* at 34.) Bearden's attorney discovered that title to the Property had been transferred to Gritton and that large liens had been placed against the Property. (*Id.* at 35.) The loans Gritton had taken went into foreclosure. (*Id.* at 37.) Bearden was able to pay Gritton's loans off and save the home from being sold at public sale by borrowing nearly \$60,000 and arranging for the Deed of Trust held by Gritton's lender to be transferred and assigned to her. (*Id.*)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because *Phillips v. JCM Development Corp.*, 666 P.2d 876 (Utah 1983), is no longer good law, the trial court erred by not assessing Wardley's right to control the real estate agent, Gritton, to determine whether he was an "employee" or an independent contractor of Wardley.

With respect to Bearden's claims that Wardley should be vicariously liable, reasonable minds could not disagree that the actions of Gritton were not within 1) the scope of his employment, 2) his apparent authority, or 3) the scope of his subagency with his broker, Wardley. Although Gritton had been given limited authority to undertake certain actions with respect to helping buyers and sellers of real property, such as Bearden, with marketing their properties, Gritton did not, under any agency theory, have authority to fraudulently obtain Bearden's signature on a Warranty Deed, and have it notarized and recorded, so that he could then obtain several loans by securing them with Bearden's property – all for his personal benefit. Gritton's lack of authority to do the very acts of which Bearden complains, should have prevented this case from going to the jury on the issue of Wardley's vicarious liability.

Under the traditional three-part test established in *Birkner v. Salt Lake County*, 771 P.2d 1053, 1056-57 (Utah 1989), Gritton's actions were not within the scope of his employment, or the scope of his subagency, with Wardley. Although Gritton's used his legitimate real estate activities "as a springboard," *Jackson v. Righter*, 891 P.2d 1387, 1391 (Utah 1995), for his fraudulent actions, the actions he took to defraud Bearden were not the general kind of activities a real estate agent performs. In addition, they were not

intended to further Wardley's interest but, rather, as Gritton testified, to serve solely his own private and personal interests.

There was no basis for finding Gritton had apparent authority to defraud Bearden because Wardley took no steps which might reasonably be found to cause third parties to believe that Gritton was clothed with apparent authority to purchase property for his own account. Gritton was only authorized to act as Wardley's agent in a limited capacity. Bearden's sole and exclusive reliance on Gritton for a claim that Gritton had apparent authority is wrong.

Wardley's inquiries about this listing elicited lies and deceit from Gritton. Being thus kept in the dark, there was no reason for Wardley to have taken any of the aggressive actions suggested by Bearden in an effort to protect Bearden. The fraud and the harm were unanticipated. In fact, Bearden had an obligation to ascertain the scope of the authority she supposed Gritton had. There is no basis to impute Gritton's knowledge to Wardley.

One of the problems with this case is that the instructions to the jury unnecessarily confused Gritton's actions with the actions and statements of Wardley in a way that was prejudicial to Wardley. The trial court essentially told the jury that Gritton's acts could bind Wardley because Wardley, as a corporation, could only act through its agents.

For the same reasons articulated in connection with Wardley's scope of employment argument, above, Gritton's conduct was not within the scope of his subagency relationship with Wardley. Wardley can only be held responsible for those

things its agent does which are within the scope of the agent's employment or in the course of carrying out the duties assigned to the agent.

Wardley cannot be held directly liable for the results of Gritton's fraud based on a claimed breach of fiduciary its duty. Wardley could not have anticipated Gritton's fraudulent scheme largely due to Gritton's lies and deceit practiced on Wardley. No evidence was submitted as to an applicable standard of care, leaving the jury to apparently make one up.

Likewise, Wardley cannot be held directly liable for punitive damages. There is no doubt that Wardley did not act in a sufficiently culpable manner to warrant being held responsible for punitive damages based on its own conduct. Rather, it appears that the jury attributed Gritton's conduct to Wardley. This appears to have been the result of the lower court's confusing jury instructions. There was no evidence of any act by any person must sufficiently high-up in the Wardley organization to justify holding the corporation responsible. The only evidence regarding willful, malicious, or reckless conduct was that of Gritton.

The Special Verdict form used by the court prejudiced Wardley because it instructed the jury to apply an incorrect evidentiary standard for determining fraud. In addition, when the jury had a follow up question, the trial judge failed to call the attorneys back to the court as required by Rule 47(n) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Finally, the jury's calculation of damages is not supported by competent evidence. The basis of the jury's damage award is a mystery, even to Bearden's counsel, with the

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