2001

Lucille Bearden, Dorothy Lucille Christensen
Bearden, Harold Dee Bearden v. Guy Gritton,
Wardley Corporation, Wardley Better Homes and
Gardens : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly submitted to the jury all the issues regarding Gritton and Wardley's liability and Bearden's resulting damages. Using a Special Verdict Form, the jury found for Bearden on every single question. Specifically, the jury found that Wardley was liable for Bearden's losses based 1) on its own breach of fiduciary duty, and 2) its vicarious liability for Gritton's conduct. The jury awarded Bearden \$75,000 as compensatory damages, and modest amounts against Gritton (\$25,000) and Wardley (\$15,000) as punitive damages. This Court should not disturb the jury's verdict.

Wardley's position on appeal is fatally defective because it cannot overcome the jury's finding on breach of fiduciary duty. Wardley focuses almost all of its attention on its vicarious liability for Gritton's conduct. However, even if this Court holds that Wardley is not vicariously liable--which it should not--Bearden should still prevail because Wardley is liable for her losses based on its breach of fiduciary duty.

The evidence supports the jury's finding that Wardley breached its fiduciary duty to Bearden. Although Wardley has failed to meet its burden of marshaling the evidence on

this issue, the facts recited by Bearden demonstrate that the jury's finding was appropriate. Wardley's fiduciary duty to Bearden arose from its contract with her, and as a matter of Utah law. Based on the documents in its files, Wardley knew that Gritton's purchase of Mrs. Bearden's home jeopardized Mrs. Bearden's interests. Indeed, Wardley had a policy prohibiting its agents from buying their own listings. Yet Wardley did nothing to protect Mrs. Bearden's interests. The jury properly concluded that Wardley breached its fiduciary duty to Bearden.

Although Wardley's arguments against vicarious liability are mooted by the jury's finding on breach of fiduciary duty, these arguments fail anyway. The Utah Supreme Court's decisions in *Phillips v. JCM Dev. Corp.*, 666 P.2d 876 (Utah 1983) and *Wardley Better Homes and Gardens v. Cannon*, 2002 UT 99, -- P.3d -- ("*Cannon II*") supports both the trial court's decision to submit the issue of vicarious liability to the jury, and the jury's verdict against Wardley. Wardley relies heavily on this Court's decision in *Wardley Better Homes and Gardens v. Cannon*, 2001 UT App. 48, 21 P.3d 235 ("*Cannon I*"), which has now been reversed by *Cannon II*. This Court should follow the precedent of *Phillips* and *Cannon II*.

The jury found that Wardley was liable for Gritton's conduct based on three separate theories: respondeat superior, subagency liability, and apparent authority. Although Bearden only needs an affirmative finding on one of these theories, the evidence supports the jury's finding on all three. Simply put, Gritton's efforts to sell Mrs. Bearden's home on behalf of Wardley--which necessarily include his proposed purchase of

the home and his fraudulent procurement of Mrs. Bearden's signature on the warranty deed--occurred within the scope of his employment and his agency. Gritton was acting with the apparent authority of Wardley, which expressly authorized Gritton to act as its agent, and provided him with the means he needed to effectuate his fraudulent and tortious acts.

The damages awarded by the jury are also supported by the evidence. As to compensatory damages, the three primary categories of Bearden's losses add up to at least \$75,000, the amount of the jury's award. Similarly, the jury's award of punitive damages against Wardley is also justified. Wardley is liable for punitive damages based on its own breach of fiduciary duty, a point that Wardley does not even acknowledge. The evidence also supports a finding of vicarious punitive damage liability against Wardley. In Gritton, Wardley was allowing a bankrupt, who had not paid his taxes and was being sued by his former broker, to help clients like Mrs. Bearden sell their homes. As to Mrs. Bearden, Gritton violated Wardley's policies by purchasing his own listings and failing to deposit his earnest money obligation with Wardley. He also defrauded Bearden. Wardley had either actual or constructive knowledge of all these facts, yet it allowed Gritton to continue to act as its agent. Punitive damages are appropriate.

None of the various other issues raised by Wardley--which include a challenge to a standard jury instruction, and unsupported allegations regarding a question by the jury--justify overturning the results below. Indeed, Wardley has failed to even present argument on Issue #7, Bearden's recovery of attorneys' fees.

In its attempts to find fault with the proceedings below, Wardley has lost sight of the central issue on this appeal: its own culpability. This is a case about a real estate agent and a real estate transaction gone bad. As a broker, Wardley's fiduciary responsibility was to protect the interests of its own client, Mrs. Bearden. It failed to do so in every respect. Wardley's attempts to wash its hands of the situation is both unavailing and unsettling. This Court should affirm the verdict of the jury, which found against Wardley on every count, and the Judgment of the trial court.

ARGUMENT

I. WARDLEY BREACHED ITS FIDUCIARY DUTY TO BEARDEN.

A. Wardley's Breach of Its Fiduciary Duty to Mrs. Bearden Is Dispositive of Most of the Issues on Appeal.

The most glaring deficiency with Wardley's position on appeal is that it cannot overcome the jury's finding that it--independent of Gritton's conduct--breached the fiduciary duty it owed to Mrs. Bearden. Wardley has not even raised the propriety of this finding as an issue; instead, it summarily contends that it did not breach this duty on two pages near the end of its Brief. (Appellant's Brief at 44-45.) However, Bearden addresses this issue first because it is largely dispositive of the remaining issues raised by Wardley.

The jury found that Wardley was liable for Bearden's losses based 1) on its own breach of fiduciary duty, and 2) its vicarious liability for Gritton's conduct. (Special Verdict Form, Questions #2 and #3; Appellant's Addendum E.) Wardley has focused almost all of its attention on vicarious liability. However, even if this Court were to hold

that Wardley is not vicariously liable for Gritton's conduct--which it should not--Bearden would still prevail because Wardley is liable for her damages based on its breach of fiduciary duty. As demonstrated immediately below, the Court should uphold the jury's finding on this issue, thus obviating most of the other issues raised by Wardley.

B. Wardley Has Failed to Marshal the Evidence.

The jury's determination that Wardley breached its fiduciary duty (Special Verdict Form, Question #3, Appellant's Addendum E) should not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, with due regard to the jury's ability to judge the credibility of the witnesses. *Consolidation Coal v. Div. of State Lands*, 886 P.2d 514, 519 (Utah 1994). Wardley bears the heavy burden of establishing that the jury's findings are not supported by substantial and competent evidence. *See id.* If there is any competent evidence to support the findings and conclusions of the trial court, such findings, and the conclusions rationally based thereon, will not be disturbed on appeal. *Highland Const. Co., v. Stevenson*, 636 P.2d 1034, 1036 (Utah 1981). To meet its burden Wardley must "first marshal all the evidence supporting the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the findings even in viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below." *Consolidation Coal*, 886 P.2d at 519; *see also Wilson Supply, Inc. v. Fradan Manufacturing Corp.*, 2002 UT 94, ¶21, -- P.3d --. Where the appellant fails to marshal, the appellate court need not consider the challenge to the sufficiency of the findings. *Tanner v. Carter*, 2001 UT 18, ¶ 17, 20 P.3d 332.

Wardley has attempted to satisfy its marshaling burden by setting forth facts on pages 16 through 26 of its Brief. This alone is insufficient. *See Fitzgerald v. Critchfield*, 744 P.2d 301, 304 (Utah App. 1987). The presentation of supporting evidence must also be found in the argument portion of the brief, and the appellant must demonstrate why such evidence is insufficient. *See id.*; *see also Roderick v. Ricks*, 2002 UT 84, ¶47, n. 11, -- P.3d --. Wardley has made no attempt in its argument to recite the facts that support the jury's finding of breach of fiduciary duty. Instead, Wardley has cited to selected portions of its own witness's testimony, and argued that there was no breach. (Appellant's Brief at 44-45.) This does not comply with the marshaling requirement. *See Wilson Supply*, 2002 UT 94, ¶ 26. It is not this Court's duty or burden to marshal for Wardley. *See Fitzgerald*, 744 P.2d at 304. Therefore, the Court should uphold the jury's finding that Wardley breached its fiduciary duty.

C. The Evidence Supports the Jury's Finding.

However, it is easy to demonstrate that the jury's finding of breach of fiduciary duty was supported by substantial and competent evidence. The following evidence, in conjunction with those facts listed in Wardley's Brief, pp. 20-23, ¶¶ 18-37, shows that the jury's finding was anything but clearly erroneous:

1. Section 6 of the Listing Agreement between Wardley and Mrs. Bearden provides that Wardley owed her a fiduciary duty of loyalty, full disclosure, confidentiality, and reasonable care. (Appellee's Addendum A.)
2. Sommers, the manager of the Wardley office where Gritton worked, testified that Wardley owed Mrs. Bearden a fiduciary duty of honesty, trustworthiness, loyalty, diligence, and accountability. (R. 708 at 206-09.)

3. Wardley tracked, set up a file, and supervised each of its client's transactions. Wardley required its agents to turn in paperwork on each transaction--including the contract documents themselves, and an "Information Sheet." (Id. at 212-215)

4. Gritton filled out and submitted an Information Sheet to Wardley. It shows Gritton as the Buyer and Mrs. Bearden as the seller. It states a price of \$89,000; an earnest money deposit of \$500.00; a closing date of October 15, 1997; and a transaction number of 97006551. It also states that the Wardley 53rd South Office will receive a 3% commission as the Listing Office, and a 3% commission as the selling office, with Gritton as the sales executive for both. (Tr. Ex. P-10, Appellee's Addendum C.)

5. Gritton also submitted the REPC executed by himself and Mrs. Bearden. The REPC shows that Gritton has delivered to Wardley the earnest money payment of \$500.00. It also lists Gritton as the buyer, as the agent for buyer, as the agent for the seller, and Wardley as both the listing and selling broker. (Tr. Ex. P-7, Appellee's Addendum B.)

6. Wardley prohibited its agents from buying property from clients they represented as sellers. (R. 708 at 212, 215-216.) Gritton was not aware of this policy. (Appellant's Brief at 21, ¶ 25.)

7. Nevertheless, Wardley was aware that Gritton was acting as both Wardley's agent representing Mrs. Bearden, and as the buyer of the Property. (Id. at 21, ¶ 24.)

8. Wardley never contacted Gritton about the fact that his transaction with Bearden violated company policy. Wardley never required Gritton to cease representing Bearden in the transaction; nor did it appoint a substitute agent for Mrs. Bearden. Wardley never even contacted Mrs. Bearden about the transaction. (Appellant's Brief at 21, ¶¶ 27-28.)

9. Sommers testified that Wardley had every reason to know that Gritton had violated its policy and that Bearden's interests were at risk. Sommers admitted that Wardley did nothing about it. (R. 708 at 223-24).

Thus, there was sufficient and competent evidence to demonstrate that Wardley owed a fiduciary duty to Mrs. Bearden and that it breached this duty. Wardley's statement that there was no "evidence of duty" (Appellant's Brief at 45) borders on the frivolous. It

is clear that Gritton's proposed purchase of the Property, while still acting as Mrs. Bearden's agent, violated Wardley's own policy. Wardley was aware of this fact, yet did nothing to stop or intervene in the transaction. The jury reasonably concluded that Wardley breached its fiduciary duty to Mrs. Bearden.

Wardley's contentions that it could not have foreseen Gritton's scheme and that it was also the victim of fraud, are simply unavailing in the face of the evidence cited above.¹ Wardley's argument regarding the standard of care is equally flimsy. Sommers described Wardley's fiduciary duty as one requiring honesty, trustworthiness, loyalty, diligence, and accountability, which is consistent with the language in the Listing Agreement itself. Further testimony regarding the standard of care was unnecessary. It was rational for the jury to conclude that, had Wardley prohibited Gritton from simultaneously buying Mrs. Bearden's Property and acting as her real estate agent, Mrs. Bearden would not have lost her home.

There is nothing in the record to support Wardley's argument that the jury may have answered the fiduciary duty question based on Gritton's actions--not Wardley's. The Court should read the jury's verdict harmoniously, and presume that it properly followed the instructions. *Moore v. Burton Lumber & Hardware*, 631 P.2d 865, 869 (Utah 1981). Question #3 asked the jury whether Wardley breached a fiduciary duty to Bearden.

¹ In light of *Cannon II*'s holding (*infra* at 20-21), imputing an agent's knowledge to the broker, even when the agent is engaged in tortious conduct, it could be argued that Wardley breached its fiduciary duty to Bearden as a matter of law.

Question #1 asked whether Gritton breached a fiduciary duty to Mrs. Bearden. That the jury differentiated between the conduct of Gritton and Wardley is apparent from the differing punitive damage amounts it awarded against them: \$25,000 against Gritton and \$15,000 against Wardley (Appellant's Addendum E.). Although Wardley may be confused about its fiduciary duty, the jury was not.

II. WARDLEY IS VICARIOUSLY LIABLE FOR GRITTON'S CONDUCT

A. The Court Correctly Denied Wardley's Motion for Summary Judgment.

1. Breach of Fiduciary Duty.

In arguing that the trial court should have granted its motion for summary judgment, Wardley has focused on its vicarious liability. Again, it has ignored its independent fiduciary duty to Mrs. Bearden. (Appellants' Brief at 27-30.) Bearden raised the issue of Wardley's fiduciary duty in her Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 271.) Pursuant to *Utah R.Civ.P* 56(e), Bearden submitted two affidavits demonstrating that genuine issues of material fact existed. (R. 184-200, 284-89.) Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Bearden, the trial court correctly held that summary judgment was inappropriate on this claim. Of course, at trial the jury found that Wardley breached its fiduciary duty to Wardley. Because Wardley has failed to challenge the Court's denial of summary judgment on this ground, its argument that summary judgment should have been granted on the issue of vicarious liability is ineffective.

2. *Phillips* Is Still Good Law.

Wardley's primary argument against the Court's denial of summary judgment is that "*Phillips* is no longer good law." This statement was incorrect when Wardley made it, and it is even more inaccurate now. *Phillips v. JCM Dev. Corp.*, 666 P.2d 876 (Utah 1983), in which the Supreme Court upheld the trial court's determination that a real estate broker was liable for its agent's tortious conduct pursuant to *respondeat superior*, has never been overturned or questioned by the high court. Since the filing of Wardley's brief, the Supreme Court has overturned the Court of Appeals decision in *Wardley Better Homes and Gardens v. Cannon*, 2001 UT App 48, 21 P.3d 235 ("*Cannon I*"), on which Wardley relies. (Appellant's Brief at 14-16.) In *Wardley Better Homes and Gardens v. Cannon*, 2002 UT 99, ¶ 25, -- P.3d -- ("*Cannon II*"), the Supreme Court expressly followed *Phillips*:

Wardley, nevertheless, contends that Hansen's knowledge cannot be imputed to it because Hansen [Wardley's agent] was an independent contractor and not an employee. This argument fails because he have clearly held that "[t]he relationship between a real estate broker and its agents is that of employer and employee." *White v. Fox*, 665 P.2d 1297, 1301 (Utah 1983), *see also Phillips v. JCM Dev. Corp.*, 666 P.2d 876, 881 (Utah 1983).

3. Wardley's Argument Regarding Changes to Utah's Statutory Scheme Is Not Properly Before the Court.

Wardley also attacks *Phillips* on the theory that because there were changes to Utah's statutory scheme governing real estate brokers and agents in 1985--two years after the *Phillips* decision--*Phillips* is no longer applicable. (Appellant's Brief at 27-29.)

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